IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)



NOV 24 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

CURTIS WINDOM,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NUMBER 80,830

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In referring to the record on appeal, the following symbols will be used:

(T) Transcript of trial proceedings held on February 25-28, 1992, consisting of four volumes of 732 pages.

(R) For the 392 pages numbered consecutively consisting of Volume I transcript of penalty phase proceedings held on September 23, 1992 (R1-113); Volume II transcript of the sentencing proceedings held on November 10, 1992 (R114-34); two volumes consisting of the pleadings filed in the case (R135-392); and the supplemental record numbered consecutively from the record on appeal (R393-595) consisting of transcripts of both pre-trial and post-trial hearings and other pleadings.

The Appellant, Curtis Windom, will be referred to as the Appellant or by his proper name. The government will be referred to as the State or the prosecutor.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 3, 1992, the 1991, fall term grand jury in the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Orange County, Florida indicted Curtis Windom on three counts of first-degree murder and one count of attempted first-degree murder. (R153-55)

On July 17, 1992, Appellant filed a motion to suppress physical evidence. (R184-85) Following a hearing held on August 14, 1992, the trial court denied the motion. (R547-52) During the trial, the evidence was admitted over Appellant's objections. (T561-67)

Also prior to trial, the court denied Appellant's motion to preclude challenges for cause based on a juror's opposition to the death penalty. (R200-1) During jury selection, several potential jurors were excused for cause based on this very philosophy. (T75-76,82-84,93-97,113-16,155-63,184-87)

This case proceeded to trial on August 25, 1992. (R262-66) During jury selection, Appellant interposed a <u>Neil/Slappy¹</u> objection to several peremptory challenges exercised by the State. (T250-52,255-57)

During the State's case-in-chief, the trial court allowed the introduction of several gruesome photographs over Appellant's objections. (T531-37)

At the conclusion of the State's case-in-chief, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal based on the insufficiency of

¹ <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984) and <u>State v.</u> <u>Slappy</u>, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1988).

the evidence to prove premeditation in the murders of Valerie Davis and Mary Lubin, and the attempted murder of Kenny Williams. (T551-52) After hearing argument, the trial court denied the motion. (T554) Appellant presented four witnesses that testified in his behalf. (T580-634) During Appellant's case-inchief, the trial court rebuffed Appellant's attempt to call Sergeant Fusco as a witness. (T619-21) Appellant renewed his previously made motion for judgment of acquittal which the trial court again denied. (T634)

Following deliberation, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty as charged on all four counts. (T723-28)

Appellant was the subject of a penalty phase on September 23, 1992. (R1-113) The State presented, over objection, one witness (R1-37) and the Appellant presented none. (R38-46) Following deliberation, the jury returned with recommendations that Windom be sentenced to death on each of the three capital crimes. (R108,318-20)

Windom's life was the subject of a mitigation hearing held before the trial court only on November 5, 1992. (R470-546) On November 10, 1992, the trial court heard the testimony of one more witness before sentencing Curtis Windom to die in Florida's electric chair. (R117-133,355-79) The trial court found two aggravating factors², three statutory mitigating factors³, and

² Prior violent felony convictions and heightened premeditation. §§ 921.141(5)(b) and (i), Fla. Stat. (1991).

four nonstatutory mitigating circumstances.⁴ (R355-63) The court sentenced Windom to twenty-two years imprisonment for the attempted murder of Kenny Williams. (R377) The trial court ordered that all four sentences run consecutively. (R371-77)

Appellant filed a notice of appeal on November 24, 1992. (R380) Appellant filed an amended notice of appeal on December 18, 1992. (R389) This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, §3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

³ Appellant had no significant history of prior criminal activity, acted under extreme duress, and may have been under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. §§ 921.141(6)(a), (b) and (e), Fla. Stat. (1991).

⁴ Curtis Windom assisted needy people in the community and was a good father. As a child, Windom saved his sister from drowning. As an adult, he peacefully resolved a potentially violent dispute by paying a debt out of his own pocket.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

During the morning hours of February 7, 1992, Jack Luckett and Curtis Windom, both long-time friends and life-long residents of Winter Garden, were discussing Johnny Lee, a mutual friend. In response to Windom's question, Luckett admitted that Johnny Lee had won money at the dog track the previous evening. (T320-23) Windom told Luckett that Lee owed Windom \$2,000.00. Over Luckett's protest, Windom announced his intention to kill Lee that day. When Luckett again attempted to dissuade Windom, Windom purportedly replied that it was not about money, but rather something else. (T320-24) Luckett denied any knowledge of what "else" it was about. (T324)

Shortly before noon on February 7, 1992, Curtis Windom purchased a box of .38 caliber ammunition at the Wal-Mart in Ocoee, approximately two miles from Winter Garden, located in Orange County, Florida. (T281-86) Around noon on the same day, Jean Willis and Pamela Fikes were talking near the tennis courts on Eleventh Street in Winter Garden. (T286-90,310-11) As the women conversed, Johnny Lee, Windom's best friend (T298) walked up and joined the conversation. (T287-89,311) Willis, Fikes, Lee and Windom had grown up together and remained friends in the close-knit community of Winter Garden. (T286-87,289,298-99,310-12) Willis noticed Windom driving his black Maxima down Eleventh Street toward the group. (T290-91) Windom stopped his car with the passenger side right next to where Johnny Lee stood. (T292,312-13) Johnny Lee did not appear startled or frightened.

(T291,313)

Windom immediately slid over to the open passenger window and shot Lee twice in the back. (T292-93,306-7,313-14)⁵ Lee fell to the ground, Windom got out of his car, came around the rear of his car, and shot Lee three more times as Lee lay on his back. (T293,305-8) After the shooting, Windom abandoned his car where it stood and ran up Eleventh Street with the gun still in his hand. (T294-95,314-15)

Both Willis and Fikes were stunned by Windom's actions. (T308-9,316-18) Both women noticed that Windom looked different than his normal self. Willis noticed that Windom "looked wild... [his] eyes was [sic] big." (T308)

Luckett had never attempted to warn Johnny Lee of his impending doom and, was nearby and saw Windom drive up and shoot Lee. (T325,328) Luckett, a three-time convicted felon, denied removing a gun, drugs, or jewelry from Johnny Lee's body or car after the shooting, but before the police arrived. (T326)

Kenny Williams was talking to Thomas Watkins near Center and Eleventh Streets when Williams heard gunshots down the road. (T337-40,343,378-81) Watkins saw Windom, with pistol in hand, rounding the corner of a nearby house. (T339-40) Watkins left and went inside. (T340) A few minutes later, Williams saw Windom enter the Eleventh Street Apartments. Williams heard more

⁵ Although Jean Willis testified that neither Windom nor Lee said anything before the shots were fired (T293), Pamela Fikes heard Windom say, "My motherfucking money, nigger," prior to the shooting. (T313)

shots, this time from the apartments. Concerned for his safety, Williams started to leave also, but ran into Windom as he was coming around the corner of a building. (T378-81) Williams noticed that Windom, whom he had known for twenty-five years, did not look normal. His eyes bugged out and he looked like he had "clicked." (T390-91) Williams described Windom's eyes as looking "half crazy." (T399)

From inside his kitchen, Watkins heard a voice say, "I don't like police-ass niggers," followed by a gunshot. (T340-42) When he stepped outside, he saw Kenny Williams clutching his chest and requesting an ambulance. Windom was walking away, down Center Street with a gun still in his hand. (T340-42) Williams denied that Windom looked mad and, instead, described him as looking confused. (T399) After Williams uttered a brief greeting, Windom shot him once in the chest. (T381-82) Williams denied that Windom mentioned anything about "police informants" prior to the shot being fired. (T382-83) When impeached with a prior inconsistent statement on this issue, Williams explained that the police "fed" him the statement at the hospital while he was under the influence of drugs. (T382-83) Williams subsequently recovered from his wound. (T385-86)

At 12:15, Cassandra Hall saw Valerie Davis at the Eleventh Street apartment that Davis sometimes shared with Windom.⁶ Hall could see Valerie Davis through the window blinds talking on the

⁶ Valerie Davis and Curtis Windom jointly parented a child. (T356)

phone. (T349) As Hall knocked on the apartment door, she heard four shots coming from the street. (T348-49) A few minutes later, Hall noticed Curtis Windom huffing and puffing his way up the sidewalk between the apartment buildings. Hall saw that Windom was holding a gun at his side. (T350) Windom stepped around Hall and entered the apartment and stated: "Val, I can't take it any more." (T350) Windom then shot Davis at close range. (T350) Hall panicked when Davis got shot and Windom turned the gun on her. (T351) She fled from the apartment.⁷

At the time she was shot, Valerie Davis was involved in a three-way telephone conversation with Latroxy and Maxine Sweeting. (T358-60,365-70) Both Sweetings heard Cassandra Hall warn Davis of the shots being fired in the neighborhood. Both also heard Curtis Windom tell Davis, "I'm tired. I'm through. I'm through." (T360-61) When Davis asked Windom what the problem was, the Sweetings heard Windom reply that he could not take it anymore. Both Sweetings then heard a gunshot followed by the sound of a door closing and moaning. (T359-70)

After leaving Davis' apartment Windom had his encounter with Kenny Williams. A few minutes later, Windom was spotted coming from behind Brown's Bar by Pearly Mae Riley, Windom's distant cousin. Windom looked angry, wild, strange, and had "big eyes."

⁷ Hall's version of Davis' shooting was substantially impeached with her prior inconsistent statements in which she denied seeing the gun, denied that Windom tried to shoot her, that Davis had left the apartment before Windom arrived, and that, although she believes that Windom shot Davis, others in addition to Windom were shooting that day. (T354-56)



He had a gun in his hand. (T423-26,432) Riley asked Windom what the problem was but, being deaf, she was unable to hear his answer. (T425-26) Windom continued walking to East Bay Street where he encountered Mary Lubin, Valerie Davis' mother, stopped in her car at a stop sign.⁸ (T426-27) Lubin and Windom exchanged words that no one could hear. Windom then shot Lubin. (T426-28) Riley admitted that Lubin could have threatened Windom prior to the shooting. (T431-32) After Lubin said, "He shot me," Windom shot Lubin once more. (T428) Lubin opened her door, got out of the car, walked to a nearby tree and fell to her knees. (T428) Riley noticed Lubin's car rolling down the street, so she got into the car and stopped it. (T428) Riley then went to Lubin's aid. (T428-29) Lubin's boyfriend, Sylvester, came upon the scene and took possession of Lubin's purse, which Riley had retrieved from the car. (T433-34) Riley did not look in Lubin's purse for a gun. (T435)

Mary Law, who admitted to serious drug problems in her past, also saw Windom shoot Lubin. Law first noticed Windom in the company of three men near Brown's Bar. One of the men, James Duke, was attempting to talk Windom into giving up his gun. (T438) Windom eventually walked away from the trio and, at the next street corner, shot Mary Lubin as she sat in her car at a stop sign. Law estimated that Windom was ten to fifteen feet from Lubin's car when the shots were fired. (T439) Law also

⁸ Lubin had received word that Valerie Davis, her daughter, may have been shot. She was on her way to check on her. (T512-13)

admitted that Lubin may have uttered a threat to Windom before the shots. (T440-41)

Law described Windom as looking "spaced out" and he "seemed to be out of it." (T445) Law also admitted being high on crack cocaine that day. (T445) After being confronted with a prior inconsistent statement, Law agreed that Perry Brown and James Duke were holding Windom when he shot Lubin. (T451-52)

After the shooting, Law dropped her purse and ran to Lubin's aid. (T441-42) When the paramedics arrived, Law returned to retrieve her purse. James Duke led Law a short distance from the shooting scene and returned her purse. At that point, Law realized that Duke had hidden a gun in her purse. (T442-43) After hiding the gun overnight, Law was approached by police the next morning. They obtained consent to search her purse, where they found the gun. (T444)

Autopsy results indicated that Valerie Davis died from a single gunshot wound to the heart, while Johnny Lee and Mary Lubin died of multiple gunshot wounds. (T524-45) Police arrested Windom the next day. Ballistic tests connected some of the bullets fired to the gun recovered from Mary Law's purse. (T496-502)

Dr. Robert Kirkland, a psychiatrist, interviewed Curtis Windom about the shootings. Windom remembered the first encounter with Johnny Lee and the last encounter with Mary Lubin. However, Windom had no recollection of shooting Valerie Davis, his girlfriend. (T580-81) Dr. Kirkland explained a severe

psychotic reaction called a fugue state, which is a depersonalization reaction people sometimes suffer due to stress or pressure. Taking its name from the musical term (meaning the frantic playing of discord notes), a person in a fugue state often acts in a frenzy without knowing their identity. (T582) The disorder may last only a brief period of time or may last for years. (T582-83) Amnesia can play a part of an individual in this state. (T583) Dr. Kirkland made no diagnostic finding as to whether or not Curtis Windom was in a fugue state during the shootings. Kirkland allowed that it was possible, but not likely. (T584)

Dr. Kirkland recounted one fugue state case history in which a young man, home from college, was practicing baseball with his father. The father was killed by accident with the bat. The trauma led to a psychotic reaction during which the son also killed his mother and older brother. (T585)

Lena Windom, Appellant's mother, saw Windom at the Winter Garden Police Station shortly after his arrest. Mrs. Windom could tell that Curtis "wasn't hisself [sic]. He wasn't hisself [sic] at all. Nothing at all." (T621-23) During most of her conversation with Curtis, Mrs. Windom was doing most of the talking, trying to get him "back to his senses." (T628) During his entire life, Mrs. Windom had never seen Curtis look or act like he did at the police station that day. (R628) Curtis was running a fever and did not seem to remember that he had shot Valerie. (T631-32)

Mrs. Windom helped the police apprehend her son who was under siege in a house on Klondike Street. (T629) Mrs. Windom approached the front door and identified herself. Curtis came to the door saying, "Mamma, what have I done?" (T630)

Mitigation Evidence

Defense counsel chose to bypass his opportunity to present mitigation evidence to the jury at the penalty phase. (R38-46)⁹ Appellant did present extensive evidence in mitigation to the trial court at a hearing on November 5, 1992. (R470-546)

When Curtis Windom was only nine years old, he saved his older sister from drowning. (R475-77) As an adult, Windom was very generous to friends and even strangers. Windom frequently gave neighbors flowers, cards, and small gifts on birthdays and other days of remembrance. (R479-80) He also paid bills for one neighbor who had been laid off from work. (R480-81) Windom was able to accomplish this good deed in spite of the fact that he was out of town during her time of need. Windom also helped the same neighbor with money for medication. (R481)

Windom made frequent donations to the community church. (R480) He also bought clothes and food for children involved in community football. (R481) Windom was kind and attentive to all of the children in the community, especially his own. (R481-82) Windom was a particular help to the children of a local white peddler named Steve. Windom bought approximately \$300.00 worth

⁹ The State presented only one witness who testified, over objection, about the "community impact" of the murders. (R1-37)

of clothing for Steve's children. (R482) Windom bought diapers and other necessities for Odessa Reynolds. (R482) Windom also gave money to a homeless person who had been reduced to eating garbage. (R482)

Windom also helped another couple in the community by buying needed medication. (R498) Windom often helped unemployed families at Christmas time "doing little things" like giving toys to the children. (R498-99) Windom was the only one of twenty witnesses who came forward to reveal the identity of the vandal who damaged a local restaurant. (R500-1) Windom had also helped a former girlfriend with money for clothing. (R512-14)

The trial court also heard from one more witness at the sentencing on November 10, 1992. (R117-26) Four years before his sentencing, Windom had intervened in a financial dispute between John Scarlet and "Black Pete." Scarlet fully intended to shoot Pete, but Windom calmed Scarlet down, confiscated his gun, and paid the debt himself. (R119-20) Windom actually stepped between a drunk Scarlet, who was brandishing a gun, and "Black Pete." (R121-22)

The trial court also heard of the animosity between Windom and Mary Lubin, one of his victims. Mary Lubin was Valerie Davis' mother. Valerie Davis was Windom's girlfriend. Lubin and Windom did not get along. (R486) Lubin was upset about a physical confrontation between Windom and Valerie Davis. (R496) Witnesses heard Mary Lubin threaten Windom to his face. (R486-87) "If [you] ever touch [my] daughter again, [you will] be in

hell or [I will]." (R487) Lubin had also threatened Windom's life in front of other witnesses. (R501)

Windom was the father of three children. (R511-12) He was a good father and shared responsibility in caring for his children. (R517-18) One child suffered from lead poisoning and Windom took his turns staying at the hospital with the child. (R518-19) The mother of two of his children described him as a "great" father. (R519) He never physically disciplined the children, instead using patient reasoning. (R519-20) Windom also provided financially for his children. (R527-28)

The character witnesses described Curtis Windom as a mildmannered man with a kind smile all of the time. (R488) All agreed that the murders were totally out of character. (R488, 500,515) None had known him to be violent (R488,514-15) They described Curtis as low-key. (R500)

Mary Jackson, an HRS worker with a master's degree in criminal justice pointed out that Windom is amenable to rehabilitation. (R500) When Jackson visited Windom in jail following his arrest, Curtis cried, expressed remorse, and stated his inability to believe that he had killed. (R502) Windom realized that he had to be punished. (R502)¹⁰

While there was some evidence that Windom may have been involved in street-level drug dealing, many of the witnesses

¹⁰ The videotape of Windom at the police station also showed remorse. Windom cried and repeatedly said, "I don't know what happened...." He concluded that he would have to spend the rest of his life in prison.

denied knowledge of that reputation. (R495,504-7,516,531-39) Mary Jackson heard rumors that Windom dealt drugs and, ultimately, he indirectly admitted involvement. (R504) She had discussed the rumors with Windom and he assured her that he was attempting to "get away" from Valerie Davis and the drug scene. (R504-7)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Curtis Windom challenges his convictions and death sentences based on a variety of reasons. Juror Laurence was excluded from jury service by the State based solely on her racial identity. Laurence, an East Indian in nationality, was never asked about her racial background. When the State exercised a peremptory challenge on Laurence, the defense objected based on <u>Neil</u>, <u>supra</u>. The prosecutor could not give an adequate race-neutral reason for excusing Laurence. The trial court, after much debate about Laurence's race, erroneously concluded that she was not part of a cognizable minority and allowed the challenge to stand.

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