## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA MAR 1 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CURTIS WINDOM,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 80,830

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar # 0302015 210 N. Palmetto Ave. Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Fl. 32114 (904)238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

## VIII THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO GIVE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED SPECIAL JURY INSTRUCTIONS AT THE PENALTY PHASE

The standard jury instructions properly cover the weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. See, Kennedy v. Dugger, 933 F.2d 905 (11th Cir. 1991). Those instructions properly inform the jury as to the finding and weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances and the jury need not be incorrectly told that the death penalty is reserved for only the most aggravated and unmitigated murders. Such a definition is too subjective and detracts from the proper standard instructions. No inapplicable aggravator was found. The jury need not have been instructed that only two out of the eleven aggravators were applicable. Such instruction would invade the province of the jury. Were it given, argument would probably be made that one of the aggravators would never have been found if the court hadn't steered the jury in that direction by suggesting that there was more than one aggravator. The remainder of requests are not argued or briefed and are not properly before the court. Duest v. State, 555 So.2d 849 (Fla. 1990).

IX THE SENTENCING COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE MURDERS WERE COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER, WITHOUT ANY PRETENSE OF MORAL OR LEGAL JUSTIFICATION

The state met its burden of proving the cold, calculated and

premeditated aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt as to each of the murders.

The homicides should first be examined as a whole to determine Windom's intent as far as the CCP factor is concerned. In its entirety, this case is similar to *Cruse v. State*, 588 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1991). In *Cruse* there was an advance procurement of a weapon and vast amounts of ammunition, reloading, and a continuation of shooting despite lack of resistance or provocation from the victims. The killings were carried out, as in this case, as a *matter of course*. This court found such facts to be indicative of the existence of the CCP factor.

On the day of the murder Windom went to Walmart and purchased .38 shells for his gun (R 284-285). He appeared calm (R 285). He loaded the gun with five live rounds. After executing Johnny Lee with four shots, he ran back to Valerie Davis' apartment (R 295). He had a shot remaining. It was clearly intended for Davis. Although Windom obviously had an axe to grind with Kenneth Williams and actually saw Williams on the way to the apartment, he postponed shooting him until after he had done Valerie in (R 380). Valerie was on the telephone when she was shot (R 360). Windom announced that he was "tired" and "through" and executed her at close range with a bullet through the heart (R 368;350) There was no evidence of provocation or threatening motions on Valerie's part. Windom then reloaded and left. After informing Kenneth Williams that he did not like "police ass niggers," Windom shot him in the chest (R 340;382-383). Windom then went to an area behind Brown's Bar where

he could see the Maxi Recreation Center where Mary Lubin was (R 425;439). Windom looked mad (R 426). That he was intent on killing Lubin is apparent from the fact that he refused to relinquish the gun to three men who were trying to take it away from him (R 452). This court has also found that by virtue of reloading a gun, a defendant is afforded time to contemplate his actions and thereby chooses to kill his victim. Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1985); see, also, Lara v. State, 464 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 1985). When Mary's car came to a standstill at the intersection of 10th and Bay Street, Windom fired into it (R 439;450;453). Mary got out of the car and fell by a tree. He "hit" her again (R 428). It is patently clear that on February 7, 1992, Curtis Windom set about "making the headlines" he contemplated and spoke about to Jack Luckett, and proceeded to systematically, selectively, and deliberately eradicate all those against whom he had a grievance.

The evidence reflects no less than the fact that these murders were executions. This court has previously held that executions demonstrate the kind of heightened premeditation that will support finding the existence of the CCP aggravating circumstance. Pardo v. State, 563 So.2d 77 (Fla. 1990). Windom clearly had the intent to kill his selected victims. Like an avenging angel of death he first revealed his displeasure to them, one by one, prior to dispatching them at close range.

The CCP factor was also upheld under similar circumstances in *Provenzano v. State*, 497 So.2d 1177 (Fla. 1986), where the

defendant entered a courthouse with the intent of killing the officers and deliberately shot a bailiff at point blank range.

Appellant's fleeting attempt to fit this case into the "domestic dispute exception" should, and more importantly, *ought* to fail miserably for several reasons. First, Valerie Davis was not a spouse but only Windom's girlfriend (R 486). Windom only sometimes shared the Eleventh Street apartment with her (R 349;356). Secondly, this is not even a case of domestic confrontation or dispute between paramours. Any dispute centered not on personal but business relationships and did not revolve around passion but drug dealing, according to Windom's own admissions. Initial Brief of Appellant, p.62 n.20

The state would, furthermore, respectfully submit that the domestic dispute exception is an anomaly. A spouse is not relieved of legal responsibility for sexually battering his or her spouse simply because of their close relationship, see, State v. Smith, 401 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981), yet because of that same close relationship legal responsibility is diminished in the case of an even greater and, in fact, the ultimate harm -- murder. If marriage or association is not a license to rape it certainly shouldn't be an absolution for murder. The violent ills plaguing society will never cease until respect begins in the home.

It should be clear that in using the language "without any pretense of moral or legal justification" in the CCP aggravator the legislature contemplated a situation where a person wrongfully believed that his actions were morally or legally warranted. The

operative language is not "pretense" but "moral or legal justification," which if incorrectly believed to exist, reduces down to a pretense of the same. This aggravator was never intended to apply to a host of banal, sociopathic, reasons for killing, such as the desire to end large drug transactions, annoyance at a partner's parent or at the partner for ratting on drug dealing. It was certainly never meant to apply to mob-like tactics for welshing on a debt. This court has heretofore only recognized a pretense of moral or legal justification in those situations where a person believed they were in danger and preemptively struck, where there was no legal right of self-defense. See, Christian v. State, 550 So.2d 450 (Fla.1989); Banda v. State, 536 So.2d 221 (Fla. 1988).

Even if this factor was inappropriately found, the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt since the other convictions for capital felonies remain and the sentencing outcome would not change. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986)

# X THE SENTENCING COURT PROPERLY FOUND THE AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF A PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY

The judge found that Windom had been previously convicted of another capital offense or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person based on that fact that he killed three people and seriously wounded a fourth and was found guilty on all four counts. Each capital felony served as a previous conviction for the others. Each of the first degree murder charges and the attempted first degree murder were considered felonies involving the use of violence for purposes of aggravation of the other first degree murder charges (R 355-356).

It is well-settled that contemporaneous convictions can be used to establish the prior violent felony aggravating factor where there is more than one victim. Wasko v. State, 505 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 1987); Espinosa v. State, 589 So.2d 887 (Fla. 1991); Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla. 1991).

Appellant's novel construction of the language of Section 921.141(5)(b), Florida Statutes (1992) must fail. Had the legislature wanted to achieve the effect appellant desires it would have made reference to a "sentence" or "previous sentence" rather than the reference "previously convicted." Furthermore, had the court misinterpreted the intent of the legislature, the legislature could have long ago revised the statutory language.

That appellant had no prior violent felony convictions prior to the homicides and attempted murder only indicates a heretofore unexposed propensity for violence which clearly manifested itself on February 7, 1992. In the absence of some mental disturbance appellant cannot be absolved of responsibility under this aggravating factor by virtue of the fact that his stored hostility combusted in a continuing eruption. In terms of "propensity" one might better ask "if he would do this what would he do next?"

## XI THE SENTENCING COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THE RELATIVE WEIGHT TO BE GIVEN EACH MITIGATING FACTOR

Evidence is "mitigating" if, in fairness or in the totality of a defendant's life or character, it may be considered as extenuating or reducing the degree of moral culpability for the crime committed. Wickham v. State, 593 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1991) Most of the mitigation presented does not even come close to fitting

that description and Windom is fortunate that the court took such a broad view of mitigation. Windom was not even entitled to the mitigating factor that he acted under extreme duress since such factor contemplates some external provocation. See, Toole v. State, 479 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1985). The other evidence Windom received the benefit of having accepted as mitigating is hardly probative of his moral culpability for the crimes. That he was willing to give away things purchased with money he never had to earn and liked some family members enough to prevent their deaths when he could easily do so, on one occasion for the price of only twenty dollars, hardly outweighs not only the aggravators but the havoc and destruction he wreaked on his family and community by his violent acts.

The judge's treatment of "mitigating" evidence hardly runs afoul of the decisions of this court. The judge found as mitigating the most tenuous of evidence. The relative weight given each mitigating factor is within the province of the sentencing court. Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1990); Dailey v. State, 594 So.2d 254 (Fla. 1991). Appellant is confused in regard to "little" and "no" weight. No factor found as mitigating was dismissed as having no weight. It was clearly within the province of the sentencing court to assign minuscule weight to this fringe mitigation.

XII THE DEATH PENALTY IS NOT DISPROPORTIONATE IN THIS CASE It is true that the sentencing judge found only two aggravating circumstances, as appellant states, but those factors applied to each of the murders (R 355-363). Appellee has argued

elsewhere the applicability of aggravating factors and the weakness of mitigation. The sentence is proportional in this case based on the aggravating factors and weak mitigation and has been imposed in other similar cases. See, Provenzano v. State, 497 So.2d 1177 (Fla. 1986); Cruse v. State, 588 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1981).

XIII SECTION 921.141 FLORIDA STATUTES (1992) IS CONSTITUTIONAL

The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues and such claims should be deemed waived. *Duest* v. *State*, 555 So.2d 849 (Fla. 1990); *Medina* v. *State*, 573 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1990).

In the absence of any showing where these claims were raised and entertained and how they were disposed of, appellee raises the *affirmative defense* of procedural bar as to each and every issue. Appellee objects to the vexatious practice of lumping claims together in a boilerplate fashion in a final point with no indication where, or even if, these claims were ever raised below. The sole purpose for such practice is the hope that this court will dispose of such claims in a manner which may be later construed as a merits ruling in federal court so that now unworthy claims, never before raised, may be later entertained should they become fashionable. Appellant has a duty of candor to this court and should come forward with the history of each and every claim.

Appellant has also failed to demonstrate the applicability of these hypothesized principles to his own particular case.

Alternatively, appellant's claims are without merit as individually argued herein. In the event of error, appellee would submit that the appropriate sentence was still imposed and that any such error is harmless in the context of this case. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

A majority recommendation has been deemed sufficient to recommend the death penalty. Brown v. State, 565 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1990). The cases cited by appellant apply to the guilt phase.

In Walton v. Arizona, 110 S.Ct. 3047, 3054 (1990), the United States Supreme Court held that aggravating circumstances are not separate penalties or offenses, but are standards to guide the making of the choice between the alternative verdicts of death and life imprisonment. See also, Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988); Hildwin v. Florida, 109 S.Ct. 2055 (1989).

In the present case the jury was instructed in the penalty phase as follows:

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, it is now your duty advise the court as to what punishment should be to imposed upon the defendant for his crimes of murder in the first degree. As you have been told, the final decision as to what punishment shall be imposed is the responsibility of the judge. However, it is your duty to follow the law that will be now given you by the court and render to the court an advisory sentence based upon your determination as to whether sufficient aggravating circumstances exist to justify the imposition of the death penalty, and whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist to outweigh any aggravating circumstances found to exist. Your advisory sentence as to what sentence should be imposed on this defendant is entitled by law and will be given great weight by this court in determining what sentence to impose in this case. It is only under rare circumstances that this court would impose a sentence other than what you recommend. Your advisory sentence should be based upon the evidence that you have heard

while listening while -- excuse me, while trying the guilt or the innocence of the defendant and evidence that has been presented to you in these proceedings.

## (R PP 22-23;101-102)(Emphasis added)

No request for a special instruction on this issue was made (R 329-351). No objection was made to the state's proposed instruction (R 352-354;R PP 49-78;99-101). No objection was made by the defense to the instruction as read (R PP 107). This claim is clearly procedurally barred. *Harris v. State*, 438 So.2d 787, 795 (Fla. 1983); *State v. Heathcoat*, 442 So.2d 694, 697-698 (Fla. 1983). The instruction as given stressed the gravity of the jury's undertaking and did not improperly describe the role assigned to the jury by local law and was not in error, in any event. *See*, *Dugger v. Adams*, 489 U.S. 401, 407 (1989).

Appellant has failed to demonstrate that any ambiguity in the role of the trial judge prevents evenhanded application of the death penalty. Appellant has not even divulged those instances in which constitutional error has been ignored because of the trial judge's ambiguous role. Evenhanded application is insured by virtue of Florida's trifurcated death penalty procedure. Regardless of what the trial judge does, this court certainly knows and applies its own law and is entitled to the Walton v. Arizona, 110 S.Ct.3049 (1990), presumption that it has so applied such law in making its decisions.

In legal contemplation judges, like litigants, are all equal before the law. Appellant has no right to any particular judge. Kruckenberg v. Powell, 422 So.2d 994 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). This

would include judges of African-American ancestry. Appellant did not move to disqualify this particular judge as biased or question the sentence on such basis and this issue should be deemed to be procedurally barred. Appellee would submit that appellant has failed to demonstrate that he even has standing to raise such issue.

In Sochor v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2123, 2123 (1992), the United States Supreme Court indicated that review for harmless federal error is sufficient. Such review is as acceptable as independent appellate reweighing. The Florida death penalty statute is not unconstitutional under Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976). See also, Maynard v. Cartwright, 108 S.Ct. 1853 (1988).

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